FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 8/24/2022 10:06 AM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/24/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 101198-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 82959-9-I

COURT OF APPEALS – DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ESTATE OF HELENE DOST; ROBERT W. DOST; AND SUSAN H. FRANCIOLI,

Plaintiff/Respondents,

v.

MUKILTEO RETIREMENT APARTMENTS, LLC; DUANE CLARK; AND RON STRUTHERS,

Defendants/Petitioners,

MUKILTEO RETIREMENT APARTMENTS, LLC, DUANE CLARK AND RON STRUTHERS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

J.C. Ditzler, WSBA #19209 Robert D. Lee, WSBA #46682 Cozen O'Connor 999 Third Avenue, Suite 1900 Seattle, WA 98104 Telephone: (206) 340-1000

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
	A.	The Eroding Limits Policy2	
	B.	The Eroding Policy Settlement Demand and Acceptance	
	C.	The Proposed Draft Settlement Agreement	
	D.	Motion to Enforce the Settlement Agreement and Appeal	
V.		GUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE CEPTED	
	A.	The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with the Supreme Court's Decision in <i>Hearst</i> <i>Communications, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.</i> 12	
	В.	The Court of Appeals' Decision Creates the Requirement that any Acceptance Must Explicitly Restate the Material Terms	
VI.	CONCLUSION		
VII.	I. APPENDIX		
	Unpu	ublished Opinion in No. 82959-9-IA-1	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)

Cases

134th Street Lofts, LLC v. iCap Northwest Opportunity Fund, LLC, 15 Wn. App.2d 549, 564, 479 P.3d 367 (2020)13		
Condon v. Condon, 177 Wn.2d 150, 298 P.3d 86 (2013)13		
Hearst Communications, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co., 154 Wn.2d 493, 115 P.3d 262 (2005) 10, 12, 13, 15		
Sea-Van Investments Associates v. Hamilton, 125 Wn.2d 120, 881 P.2d 1035 (1994) 16, 17		
<i>State v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co.</i> , 151 Wn. App. 775, 211 P.3d 448 (2009)13		
Other Authorities		
RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3)		

I. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER</u>

Petitioners are Mukilteo Retirement Apartments, LLC ("MRA") and its two principals, Duane Clark and Ron Struthers, Defendants in the Superior Court, Respondents in the Court of Appeals, Division I, and Petitioners in this Court.

II. <u>CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION</u>

The Court of Appeals, Division I, issued its decision in an unpublished opinion captioned *Estate of Helene Dost, Robert Dost and Susan H. Francioli v. Mukilteo Retirement Apartments, LLC et al.*, No. 82959-9-I, -- P.3d. -- , 2022 WL 3025793 (Wash. App. Aug. 1, 2022), and is set forth in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-7.

III. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

1. In accepting a settlement offer for policy limits, whether an acceptance which specifically identifies, references and incorporates the offer through use of the term "your" is sufficiently unambiguous when no new terms or conditions accompany the acceptance? 2. In accepting a settlement offer for policy limits, whether an acceptance requires the explicit restatement of each and every material term of the offer in order to reflect the mutual assent necessary for contract formation?

IV. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹</u>

A. <u>The Eroding Limits Policy</u>

The Harbour Pointe Retirement and Assisted Living Community ("Harbour Pointe") was a retirement living community located in Mukilteo, Washington, owned by Petitioners. CP 538. In 2013, Petitioners began the lengthy process of selling the Harbour Pointe property to a third party operator. CP 538, 550. Sadly, on September 14, 2015, Ms. Helene Dost, a resident at Harbour Pointe, fell while walking to the bathroom in her room. CP 426. At the time of Ms. Dost's

¹ For the purposes of this Petition only, Petitioners incorporate by reference the Statement of Facts as recited by the Court of Appeals in its Opinion. A-2 to A-4. In addition, Petitioners rely upon the Clerk's Papers for those facts not addressed by the Court of Appeals.

fall, Petitioners' sale of the Harbour Pointe property was in progress. CP 538, 550.

As a part of their preparations for sale, and in order to ensure that any claim that may arise out of Ms. Dost's fall incident was appropriately addressed after the sale, Petitioners consulted with a number of professionals (accountants, insurance brokers and attorneys) about obtaining appropriate, continuing insurance coverage for MRA. CP 560–66. Following consultations with, and acting on the advice of these professionals, Petitioners obtained a three-year eroding limits policy for the same limits as had been maintained/in place during the operation of the facility. CP 563–64. Further, the Petitioners took no affirmative action to formally dissolve MRA, specifically in the event of a potential claim from the Respondents. CP 560–61.

B. <u>The Eroding Policy Settlement Demand and</u> <u>Acceptance</u>

The Estate of Helene Dost, Robert Dost and Susan Francioli (referred to collectively as the "Estate") initiated the underlying lawsuit on September 17, 2018. CP 710. On February 8, 2019, Petitioners provided the Estate with a copy of the applicable eroding limits policy, making clear to the Estate that the policy was an eroding one, and that continued litigation would continue to draw on/reduce potentially available funds under the policy. CP 536–37. The Estate was reminded of this fact on multiple occasions throughout the litigation. CP 561–64, 577, 579, 588, 597, 607, 630, 635–36, 648–49, 703–04.

On November 4, 2020, the Estate sent the Petitioners a settlement demand for the remaining policy limits, with a deadline to accept of November 18, 2020 at 5:00 p.m. CP 579-86. The Estate's demand, in relevant part, stated:

[P]lease accept this as a time-sensitive unequivocal global settlement demand for policy limits on the \$1,000,000 tail insurance policy. This demand is conditioned upon defendants providing sworn representations that the disclosed \$1,000,000 tail insurance policy is the only insurance agreement that may provide coverage to satisfy all or part of any judgment. The settlement funds from payment of the policy limit shall be considered payment for general damages and no further general, special, or compensatory damages shall be sought by plaintiffs. This offer shall expire by 5 pm on November 18, 2020.

CP 581. The Estate's demand explicitly acknowledged that "this is an eroding (defense within limits) tail policy that gets reduced by the amount paid to defend against the lawsuit claims." CP 581. The demand also included two other conditions: (1) that Petitioners provide sworn representations that no other insurance policy potentially covering all or part of any judgment existed and that (2) the parties agree to consider the settlement funds as payment for general damages. *Id.* Given that the final amount remaining in the eroding policy would be unknown and in flux pending a final calculation of incurred defense costs, the Estate's demand did not include or identify a fixed settlement amount. *Id.*

On November 16, 2020, the Petitioners unconditionally accepted the settlement demand:

In response to the settlement demand conveyed in <u>your November 4, 2020 letter</u>, I am authorized on behalf of the Defendants to accept <u>your</u> global settlement demand for the amount remaining in the

eroding tail insurance policy, in full and final settlement of all claims against all Defendants in this matter.

CP 588 (emphasis added). Petitioners did not include any conditions on their acceptance, nor did they make their acceptance contingent on any future writing, condition or agreement. *Id.* Following their acceptance, Petitioners indicated that they would draft a proposed settlement agreement and release for the Estate's review, comment and approval. *Id.*

C. The Proposed Draft Settlement Agreement

On November 16, 2020, the Estate confirmed the Petitioners' acceptance without issue or objection, and requested the amount remaining on the eroding limits policy. CP 597. On November 17, 2020, Petitioners informed the Estate that the final numbers were being tabulated but provided a general estimate of the funds remaining in the policy. CP 607. On November 20, 2020, the Estate requested a status update on the draft settlement agreement, again raising no objection or issue with the Petitioners' acceptance: Could you please provide status of draft settlement agreement? I know you indicated you would be forwarding to us soon.

CP 618. On December 1, 2020, a *draft* settlement agreement was provided to the Estate *for their review, revision and comment*. CP 620, 622–28. Petitioners also provided the Estate with a provisional accounting of the amount remaining on the eroding policy. CP 622. Despite multiple follow up inquiries from the Petitioners, the Estate offered no response to the draft settlement agreement for four months, nor did they express any confusion with the Petitioners' acceptance. CP 641, 648-49, 652, 657, 664, 672, 680, 692.

On March 30, 2021, the Estate indicated for the first time their intent to now reject the settlement agreement on the assertion that the *draft* settlement agreement operated as a counteroffer, thus invalidating the Petitioners' acceptance. CP 701.

D. <u>Motion to Enforce the Settlement Agreement and</u> <u>Appeal</u>

On April 29, 2021, Petitioners filed a Motion to Enforce

the Settlement Agreement. CP 708-719, 521–707. The trial court granted Petitioners' Motion on June 8, 2021, specifically finding that:

2. Here, the Court finds there was a clear and enforceable contract created when Defendants accepted Plaintiffs' settlement offer by email on November 18, 2020[sic].² The express terms of the contract were clear.

3. The fact that the parties sought to finalize the agreement with a later writing does not change, alter, or invalidate the agreement.

CP 398. The Estate filed a motion for reconsideration. The trial court denied the Estate's Motion on July 14, 2021. CP 11–13. In its denial, the trial court specifically found that: (1) the Estate's November 4, 2020 letter was a global settlement offer; (2) Petitioners accepted the offer on November 16, 2020; (3) when Petitioners accepted the offer, an enforceable contract was created as to the three material conditions set forth in the November 4, 2020 offer; and (4) the subsequent draft settlement

² The acceptance was sent on November 16, 2020. See CP 588.

agreement was not a counteroffer, and did not negate the settlement that was reached by the parties. CP 12–13.

The Estate appealed. A-4. Following oral argument on June 15, 2022, Division I of the Court of Appeals issued its decision on August 1, 2022, vacating the trial court's order enforcing the settlement agreement and remanding the matter. A-1 to A-7. In vacating the trial court order, the Court of Appeals held that the Petitioners' acceptance, while accepting the demand for the eroding tail insurance policy, "was silent about the two other material terms." A-6. The Court of Appeals found that the failure to include the other two terms in its acceptance amounted to a "material variation from the original settlement offer," failing to establish the mutual assent necessary for contract formation. A-6 to A-7. Petitioners now seek review of the Court of Appeals' decision.

V. <u>ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE</u> <u>ACCEPTED</u>

Petitioners respectfully request that their Petition be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3) because the decision of the

Court of Appeals is in direct conflict with the previous decision of this Court in *Hearst Communications, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 493, 503-04, 115 P.3d 262 (2005), and raises a significant question of law in the State of Washington relating to contractual interpretation and formation which will have a tremendous impact on the daily practice of law. Specifically, this Court has long held that, under the objective manifestation theory of contracts, courts must "impute an intention corresponding to the *reasonable meaning* of the words used" and give words in a contract "their *ordinary, usual, and popular meaning* unless the entirety of the agreement clearly demonstrates a contrary intent." *Id.* at 503-04 (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals' decision in this matter however, fails to take into account the plain, ordinary meaning of the term "*your*" (specifically identifying and referencing the offer which was being accepted) which was used in the Petitioners' November 16, 2020 acceptance, and wholly disregarded the plain meaning of the term "your" in order to create the ambiguity that the Petitioners somehow meant to accept some offer other than what was solely being offered by the Estate. The Court of Appeals' interpretation necessarily requires the term "*your*" to be wholly ignored.

In doing so, the Court of Appeals has, in effect, created an additional requirement to contractual acceptance and formation – *that any acceptance must now explicitly reiterate each material term of the offer or fall short of mutual assent and be treated as a counteroffer*, despite no binding authority in Washington recognizing such a restrictive requirement.

The imposition of this new requirement will have a significant effect on the daily practice of law, contract interpretation, and how cases are regularly settled by counsel. If allowed to stand, the decision will upend well established precedent on contractual interpretation, and create significant confusion on the parameters of mutual assent as it relates to both private contracting and the settlement of lawsuits. The ramifications of such an additional requirement will be subject to

further litigation and will require significant attention and intervention by the courts over the coming years.

As a practical matter, the decision will provide a basis for parties to improperly back out of settlement agreements (or threaten to do so) at any time prior to the execution of a formal release, despite the formation of mutual assent, effectively invalidating the principles of contract interpretation. As was the case here, the Estate, unhappy with the amount left in the eroding policy, used this reasoning to back out of mutually agreed to settlement agreement. This drastic departure from objective manifestation theory of contracts demands the Court's guidance and intervention.

A. <u>The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with the</u> <u>Supreme Court's Decision in Hearst Communications,</u> <u>Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.</u>

The Court of Appeals' decision in this case is in direct conflict with the decision of the Supreme Court in *Hearst*, which lays out the principles for contract interpretation in Washington. *Hearst*, 154 Wn.2d at 503-04. In *Hearst*, this Court held that, in determining the parties' intent based on the objective manifestations of the agreement, it would "impute an intention corresponding to the *reasonable meaning* of the words used." *Id.* at 503 (emphasis added). Further, the Court instructed that words in a contract were to be given their "ordinary, usual, and popular meaning unless the entirety of the agreement clearly demonstrates a contrary intent." *Id.* at 504.

Indeed, Washington Courts have uniformly followed these principles in interpreting settlement agreements. *See e.g., Condon v. Condon*, 177 Wn.2d 150, 163, 298 P.3d 86 (2013) (applying *Hearst* principles in finding that the trial court erred by enforcing terms not implied within the settlement agreement based on plain meaning of terms used); *134th Street Lofts, LLC v. iCap Northwest Opportunity Fund, LLC,* 15 Wn. App.2d 549, 564, 479 P.3d 367 (2020) (applying *Hearst* principles in interpretation of settlement agreement); *State v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co.,* 151 Wn. App. 775, 783, 211 P.3d 448, 452 (2009) (applying *Hearst* principles of interpretation of settlement agreement). These decisions reinforce the principle that all words in a contract must be given their plain and ordinary meaning.

The Court of Appeals' decision here, however, violated these principles of contract interpretation by solely focusing on one portion of the acceptance language, "for the amount remaining in the eroding tail policy" while ignoring the repeated terms "your" that preceded it: "In response to the settlement demand conveyed in your November 4, 2020 letter, I am authorized on behalf of the Defendants to accept your global settlement demand." A-6, CP 588 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals states that the language "for the amount ..." qualified the acceptance, which, along with silence on the other two material terms, created ambiguity precluding mutual assent. A-6. However, this interpretation requires the Court to wholly ignore the plain meaning of the terms "your" which preceded it. Indeed, with use of the term "your," the Petitioners' acceptance specifically identifies, references and incorporates the terms in the Estate's November 4, 2020 letter, and again uses the term "your" to reinforce that the offer being accepted was the sole offer from the Estate. CP 588. There was no other offer, nor were there any other negotiations or discussions between the parties which could create any ambiguity in the offer being accepted. The Court of Appeals' interpretation necessarily precludes giving effect to the plain meaning of the repeated term "your." Accordingly, the Court of Appeals' decision does not follow the well-established principles of contract interpretation and is in direct conflict with this Court's holding in *Hearst*.

B. <u>The Court of Appeals' Decision Creates the</u> <u>Requirement that Any Acceptance Must Explicitly</u> <u>Restate the Material Terms.</u>

The Court of Appeals' decision in this case further conflicts with *Hearst*, and raises a significant question of law under RAP 13.4(b)(3) as to whether the failure to explicitly restate all of the material terms of the offer in an acceptance creates an ambiguity preventing mutual assent. Put another way, whether acceptance necessarily requires explicit restatement of each and every material term for a contract to be formed. A-6. The Court of Appeals' reasoning relies upon "MRA's silence about two of the Estate's essential terms" to find no meeting of the minds and cites to this Court's decision in Sea-Van Investments Associates v. Hamilton, 125 Wn.2d 120, 126-27, 881 P.2d 1035 (1994). A-6. However, Sea-Van is distinguishable here on a key fact. The purported acceptance at issue in Sea-Van added new conditions to the offer. Id. at 127 (finding that purported acceptance added the *new* conditions not contained in the offer that: (1) payment on the note be made quarterly; and (2) the two parcels close separately"). Accordingly, the purported acceptance was not identical to the offer. Id.

That is not the case here. The Petitioners' acceptance did not contain new material terms, nor was it contingent on any new material terms or conditions. CP 588. The portion of the acceptance focused on by the Court of Appeals (the eroding policy) was simply a restatement of one of the terms already offered by the Estate – it was not a new material term or condition. That, combined with the Petitioners' use of the term "your" which makes reference to and incorporates the Estate's offer, is unambiguous that the acceptance was identical to the offer, and in line with *Sea-Van*.

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals' analysis has misconstrued an acceptance that adds new terms with an acceptance which restates the terms offered. This confusion creates an implicit requirement (and misinterpretation of *Sea-Van*) that any acceptance must now explicitly restate each material term of the offer or it will not be interpreted to be "identical with the offer." Sea-Van, 125 Wn.2d at 126. There is no binding authority in Washington which recognizes such a strict requirement to contract formation. This drastic change in the well-established principles of contract formation and interpretation will be incredibly disruptive to the rights and duties of citizens, attorneys, and the practice of law in Washington. Accordingly, this Court should grant review to resolve this significant question of law and conflict raised by the Court of Appeals.

VI. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the reasons set forth above, Petitioners Mukilteo Retirement Apartments, LLC Duane Clark and Ron Struthers respectfully request that this Court grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3).

This document contains 2,878 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 24th day of August, 2022.

COZEN O'CONNOR

/s/ Robert D. Lee J.C. Ditzler, WSBA No. 19209 E-mail: jditzler@cozen.com Robert D. Lee, WSBA No. 46682 Email: rlee@cozen.com 999 Third Avenue, Suite 1900 Seattle, Washington 98104 Telephone: (206) 340-1000

Attorneys for Petitioners Mukilteo Retirement Apartments, LLC Duane Clark and Ron Struthers

FILED 8/1/2022 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ESTATE OF HELENE DOST; ROBERT W. DOST, an individual; and) No. 82959-9-I
SUSAN H. FRANCIOLI, an individual,) DIVISION ONE
Appellants,)
٧.)
MUKILTEO RETIREMENT APARTMENTS, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; DUANE CLARK, individually and on behalf of his marital community; and RON STRUTHERS, individually and on behalf of his marital community,)))))
Respondents,) UNPUBLISHED OPINION
Respondents, MILESTONE RETIREMENT COMMUNITIES, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company; MILESTONE RETIREMENT COMMUNITIES OF WASHINGTON, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; CSH HARBOUR POINTE, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company; and unknown members of Mukilteo Retirement Apartments, LLC,) UNPUBLISHED OPINION))))))))

BOWMAN, J. — Helene Dost's estate and her two children Robert Dost and

Susan Francioli (collectively Estate) appeal a trial court order enforcing a

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