FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/19/2022 8:57 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 101198-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ESTATE OF HELENE DOST; ROBERT W. DOST; AND SUSAN H. FRANCIOLI,

Appellants

v.

MUKILTEO RETIREMENT APARTMENTS, LLC; DUANE CLARK; AND RON STRUTHERS,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Attorney for Appellants:

Gregory A. McBroom, WSBA No. 33133 Matthew J. Smith, WSBA No. 33309 Smith McBroom, PLLC 16400 Southcenter Pkwy, Ste. 210 Seattle, WA 98188 Phone: (206) 778-5128 Greg@SmithMcBroom.com

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

MRA's counsel provided a general payment ledger with fees and expenses showing \$190,804.78 paid out in defense costs—even though the

parties had only exchanged written discovery and conducted four depositions. CP 244, 275. \$809,195.22 claimed to be remaining on the eroding policy. Estate's counsel then asked for a detailed accounting. CP 278. MRA counsel responded the request "will take time and [sic] review" and that "it will obviously change the final numbers as well." CP 280.

In January 2021 MRA provided heavily redacted invoices—several entirely redacted. CP 282 & 307-41. MRA counsel stated the proposed settlement amount had been further reduced to \$807,915.94. CP 288. Two months later, MRA counsel provided more redacted invoices. CP 290 & 307-41. The Estate then reviewed what information MRA provided. CP 290-92.

On March 30, 2021, the Estate rejected MRA's counteroffers as contradicting the terms of the Estate's offer and adding new material terms. CP 292, 302-41. MRA had neither agreed to the required sworn declarations, nor to classifying payment as general damages. MRA had unilaterally added confidentiality, hold harmless, and indemnity provisions. MRA improperly reduced the settlement amount by deducting attorney's fees and expenses unrelated to the case and failing to compute the settlement amount as of the date the Estate made its offer.

Responding in April 2021, MRA counsel claimed the only material term offered and accepted was the "eroding policy limits" amount—nothing

more. CP 294. He admitted the sworn declarations term was not part of his November 16, 2020 e-mail response and asserted any such requirement was immaterial for the settlement.² *Id.* He further stated, "[MRA] will not renegotiate the agreed to settlement or offer anything other than the eroding policy, which due to [the Estate's] actions, has eroded even further." CP 295. He attached a new proposed "CR 2A agreement" containing "essential terms" and once again omitted the requirement for sworn declarations and classification of payment as general damages. CP 296-97. The new agreement included non-agreed terms (*i.e.*, binding arbitration, hold harmless, and indemnity) and indicated the settlement amount would be determined later. If their demand was not met, he threatened litigation "which will further erode the remaining policy proceeds." CP 295.

In May 2021, MRA moved to summarily enforce the settlement agreement. It argued the Estate refused "to abide by the policy limits

² The author of the November 16, 2020 response unequivocally confirmed respondents' understanding in his April 16, 2021 letter:

agreement. The (1) confidentiality provision and (2) lack of sworn representations cited in your letter were neither material to the parties' settlement nor were they a component of the offer/acceptance on November 16, 2020. If the confidentiality provision or lack of sworn

CP 294 (\P 3). The statement was made *by the same person* who authored the November 16, 2020 response; *specifically refers* to the "offer/acceptance on November 16, 2020"; and *confirmed* respondents had <u>not</u> accepted the requirement for sworn declarations. Both the trial court and the Court of Appeals found that the requirement for providing sworn declarations was a material provision in the offer. CP 8 & Op. at 6.

settlement agreement which they themselves offered and [MRA] timely accepted." CP 708. The trial court granted MRA's motion, deciding "there was a clear and enforceable contract created when [MRA] accepted [the Estate's] settlement offer by e[-]mail." CP 5. The trial court found that MRA accepted the offer on November 16, 2020 "as to the three material conditions set forth in [the Estate's] November 4, 2020 offer." CP 8 (¶ 3). The Estate appealed.

Applying the appropriate review for summary proceedings, the Court of Appeals reversed on the grounds MRA did not accept all three material terms of the Estate's settlement offer. MRA only accepted one material term, the eroding policy limits, while remaining "silent about the other two material terms"—*i.e.*, sworn declarations from MRA that no other insurance policy exists that may provide coverage to satisfy any part of a judgment, and payment classified as general damages. Op. 6. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded MRA had made a counteroffer. *Id*.

REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

MRA offers inadequate reasons for this Court to accept review. The unanimous decision of the Court of Appeals conforms with well-established Washington law. MRA's petition fails to establish any conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals, or an issue of substantial public interest. *See* RAP 13.4(b). This Court should deny review.

A. There is no conflict with *Hearst Communications*.

Washington courts have long held that "[t]he acceptance of an offer is always required to be identical with the offer, or there is no meeting of the minds and no contract." *Sea-Van Invs. Assocs. v. Hamilton*, 125 Wn.2d 120, 126, 881 P.2d 1035 (1994). "[A] purported acceptance which changes the terms of the offer in any material respect operations only as a counteroffer, and does not consummate the contract." *Id*.

The appellate court's decision that there was no mutual assent is entirely consistent with *Hearst Commc'ns v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 493, 501, 115 P.3d 262 (2005), which restated a corollary to the "objective manifestations" theory that courts impute an "intention corresponding to the reasonable meaning of the words used," generally giving words their "ordinary, usual, and meaning." 154 Wn.2d at 503-04.

MRA argues a "direct conflict" with the *Hearst* case by claiming the Court of Appeals failed to give a reasonable interpretation to its November 16 email. Pet. 10. There is no direct conflict. *Hearst* was a contract interpretation case, not a contract formation case, and did not involve an issue about the meaning of a "your demand" preamble.

MRA argues the general language "your November 4, 2020 letter" and "your global settlement demand" in the "preamble" made plain and unequivocal its acceptance of all three material terms of the Estate's settlement offer, despite the effective language in the following clause stating what is actually being accepted specifically refers only to the eroding policy settlement amount term.

The Court of Appeals correctly "focus[ed] on the objective manifestations of the agreement, rather than on the unexpressed subjective intent of the parties." *Hearst Commc'ns*, 154 Wn.2d at 501; Op. at 5. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected MRA's strained preamble argument because it fails to account for the entire language of the sentence. Op. 6.

The rule is simple enough. The fallacy is MRA's theory of applying it to the November 16 e-mail. MRA adulterates this rule of interpretation by reading the preamble in isolation as the controlling language of acceptance, when the second clause of the sentence plainly provides the effective language in terms of what MRA is specifically accepting from the Estate's settlement offer, *i.e.*, only the eroding policy settlement amount. MRA's

³ MRA's counsel called it a "preamble" during oral arguments. *Estate of Dost v. Mukilteo Ret. Apts.*, No. 82959-9-I (June 15, 2022), at 9 min., 13 sec. to 10 min., 10 sec.; https://www.tvw.org/watch/?clientID=9375922947&eventID=2022061071&startStreamAt=553&stopStreamAt=610.

conduct reflected the same intention: all draft settlement agreements and emails it sent to the Estate only included the eroding policy settlement amount language and nothing of the other two material terms.

MRA's theory violates the rule that "[a] phrase cannot be interpreted in isolation." *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Peasley*, 131 Wn.2d 420, 424, 932 P.2d 1244 (1997); *see also Lake v. Woodcreek Homeowners Ass'n*, 169 Wn.2d 516, 528, 243 P.3d 1283 (2010) ("Usually, the intended meaning is apparent from the surrounding context."); *McDonald v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Co.*, 119 Wn.2d 724, 734, 837 P.2d 1000 (1992) ("The McDonalds' reading of exclusion 3 disregards an important provision of the policy and is thus unreasonable."); *Morgan v. Prudential Ins. Co. of America*, 86 Wn.2d 432, 434, 545 P.2d 1193, (1976) ("The contract should be given a practical and reasonable rather than a literal interpretation; it should not be given a strained or forced construction..."); *Viking Bank v. Firgrove Commons 3, LLC*, 183 Wn. App. 706, 713, 334 P.3d 116 (2014) (language is interpreted "in the context of other contract provisions").

Courts view language in its entirety; do not interpret phrases in isolation; and give meaning and effect to all the language. *Kroeber v. GEICO Ins. Co.*, 184 Wn.2d 925, 930, 366 P.3d 1237 (2016); *Pub. Util. Dist. 362 No. 1 of Lewis County v. Wash. Pub. Power Supply Sys.*, 104 Wn.2d 353, 373, 705 P.2d 1195 (1985) ("An interpretation which gives a

reasonable, fair, just and effective meaning to all manifestations of intention is preferred to an interpretation which leaves a part of such manifestations unreasonable, imprudent or meaningless."); *Hansen Serv. v. Lunn*, 155 Wash. 182, 190, 283 P. 695 (1930) ("Effect must be given to all of the language of the contract and a meaning and effect ascribed to each of the words and phrases used therein").

The operative acceptance clause referring only to the eroding policy limits prevails over the "your demand" preamble. "A basic rule of textual interpretation is that the specific prevails over the general." *T-Mobile U.S. Inc. v. Selective Ins. Co. of Am.*, 194 Wn.2d 413, 423, 450 P.3d 150 (2019). "[S]pecific terms modify or restrict the application of general terms where both are used in sequence." *Dean v. McFarland*, 81 Wn.2d 215, 221, 500 P.2d 1244 (1972); *Keeton v. Dept. of Social and Health Services*, 34 Wn. App. 353, 361, 661 P.2d 982 (1983) ("[W]here a general provision precedes specific exceptions or qualifications to the general proposition, both are given effect with the exceptions limited to those specifically delineated, unless indicated otherwise.")

"[S]pecific terms and exact terms are given greater weight than general language." *Adler v. Fred Lind Manor*, 153 Wn.2d 331, 354-55, 103 P.3d 773 (2004) *quoting Restatement (Second) of Contracts* § 203(3) (1981); *see also McGary v. Westlake Investors*, 99 Wn.2d 280, 286, 661

P.2d 971 (1983) ("Reading the provisions together, the specific language of the addendum providing for a negotiated rate or arbitration must prevail over the general terms of the notice-of-rental-increase provision[.]").

Attention and understanding are likely to be in better focus when language is specific or exact, and in case of conflict the specific or exact term is more likely to express the meaning of the parties with respect to the situation than the general language.

Foote v. Viking Ins. Co. of Wisc., 57 Wn. App. 831, 834-35, 790 P.2d 659 (1990), quoting Restatement (Second) of Contracts, § 203 cmt e.

The Court of Appeals correctly rejected MRA's "your demand" preamble theory. *See Spokane Sch. Dist. No. 81 v. Spokane Educ. Ass'n*, 182 Wn. App. 291, 331 P.3d 60 (2014) (courts "will not read the language of a preamble to contradict the contract's specific provisions outlining the grievance process and imposing limitations on which grievances may be arbitrated."); *Brackett v. Schafer*, 41 Wn.2d 828, 834, 252 P.2d 294 (1953) (recital clause may not be resorted to in aid of construction where there is no ambiguity in the operative portion of the agreement).

MRA's "your demand" preamble introduced the subject matter rather than set forth specific rights and obligations of the parties; it is not itself the operative part of MRA's acceptance and cannot be the basis of a legal and binding obligation. *See Groen v. Children's Hosp. Med. Ctr.*, 972 N.E.2d 648, 654 (Ohio App. 2012) (collecting cases); *see also State v. Superior Court In and For Thurston County*, 92 Wash. 16, 28 & 32, 159 P.

92 (1916) (preamble is introductory clause that recites the motive or design of what follows, but never enlarges the operative part).

MRA's theory also violates the rule that "the terms assented to must be sufficiently definite so that a court can decide just what it means and fix exactly the legal liability of the parties." *Keystone Land & Dev. Co. v. Xerox Corp.*, 152 Wn.2d 171, 178, 94 P.3d 945 (2004). Courts construe ambiguities against the drafter. *Adler*, 153 Wn.2d at 355 "[A]ny ambiguity between these arguably conflicting provisions is resolved against the drafter."); *Berg v. Hudesman*, 115 Wn.2d 657, 677, 801 P.2d 222 (1990); *Viking Bank v. Firgrove Commons 3, LLC*, 183 Wn.App. 706, 713, 334 P.3d 116 (2014). "[A]cceptance must be unequivocal." *Rorvig v. Douglas*, 123 Wn.2d 854, 858, 873 P.2d 492 (1994) (*citing Restatement (Second) of Contracts*, § 61 cmt. a).

An offeror is entitled to know in clear terms whether the offeree accepts his proposal. It is not enough that the words of a reply justify a probable inference of assent.

Restatement (Second) of Contracts, § 61 cmt. a (1981).

MRA did not clearly state what it would accept all three material terms of the offer. Even if the operative eroding policy language in the second clause is ignored, the "your demand" preamble is too indefinite and uncertain to show MRA unequivocally accepted all material terms offered by the Estate. *Cf. Schuehle v. Schuehle*, 21 Wn.2d 609, 613-14, 152 P.2d

608 (1944) (seller's offer to buyer stated as "Now this deal is at your request and at your figures" too indefinite as to price because the phrase "at your figures" did not mean the same to each party, therefore parties did not mutually assent to one and the same purchase price).

Giving meaning and effect to every word and phrase in the email response, MRA only assented to settle "for the amount remaining in the eroding tail insurance policy." Noticeably absent are the other two specific material terms in plaintiffs' offer. MRA made no mention of providing the sworn declarations or classifying the payment as general damages. *Id.* MRA disregards all the other consistent objective evidence establishing that they would not "offer anything other than the eroding policy;" that they deemed the sworn declarations to be not material to settlement; and that the requirement for sworn declarations was *specifically* not a component of defendants' November 16, 2020 response. CP 294. MRA consistently rejected the Estate's requirements for sworn declarations and classification of payment as general damages, while adding new non-agreed material terms. CP 261-65 (confidentiality, hold harmless and indemnity provisions not offered or discussed); CP 295-97.

B. There is no conflict with *Condon v. Condon*.

MRA cites in passing *Condon v. Condon*, 177 Wn.2d 150, 163, 298 P.3d 86 (2013), and two appellate decisions for the general principle that

courts apply the objective manifestations theory to determine whether parties mutually assented to a settlement agreement. Pet. 13. However, MRA does not allege a specific conflict with these decisions.

MRA cites *Condon* without acknowledging that case supports the Court of Appeals' conclusion there was no mutual assent here. In *Condon*, the defendant counteroffered with a settlement release that went beyond the general release proposed by the injured party by requiring a hold harmless and indemnity of the defendant for any third-party claims. The Supreme Court held there was no mutual assent to the additional terms and no enforceable settlement agreement.

As in *Condon*, MRA counteroffered by only agreeing to one of the three material offered terms and also demanding a hold harmless and indemnity of the defendants before it would pay the eroding policy limits. The Estate's original offer to settle had included no release provision, general or specific, and no hold harmless or indemnity of the defendants. Agreement must be expressly stated and cannot be implied; there was no burden on the Estate to object to the hold harmless and indemnity provisions. *See Condon*, 177 Wn.2d at 165. Since there was no meeting of the minds on release terms, there was no binding settlement agreement.

Like a hold harmless, adding an extensive confidentiality provision without negotiation is a material change that constitutes a counteroffer. *See*,

e.g., Lakin v. Bloomin' Brands, Inc., No. 17-cv-13088, 2019 U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 207316, at *4 (E.D. Mich. Dec. 2, 2019); Reed v. Ezelle Inv. Props.,
353 F. Supp. 3d 1025, 1031-32 (D. Or. 2018).

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